SALFORD FLOOD
IMPROVEMENTS,

| CASTLE IRWELL,
| SALFORD

Archaeological Watching
Brief

S,

)

north

Oxford Archaeology North
June 2014

Environmental Scientifics
Group

Issue No: 2014-15/1534
OA North Job No: L10743
NGR: SD 8205 0116



Document Title:

Document Type:

Client Name:

Issue Number:
OA Job Number:

National Grid Reference:

Prepared by:
Position:
Date:

Checked by:

Position:
Date:

Approved by:
Position:
Date:

Oxford Archaeology North

Mill 3, Moor Lane Mills
Moor Lane

Lancaster

LAl 1GF

t: (0044) 01524 541000
f: (0044) 01524 848606

Salford Flood Improvements, Cromwell Road, Salford

Archaeological Watching Brief

Environmental Scientifics Group

2014-15/1534
L10743

SD 8205 0116

Lewis Stitt
Project Supervisor
May 2014

Tan Miller

Senior Project Manager
June 2014

Alan Lupton
Operations Manager
June 2014

w: www.oxfordarch.co.uk
e: info@oxfordarch.co.uk

Oxford Archaeology Limited is a Registered Charity No: 285627

Disclaimer:

This document has been prepared for the titled project or named part thereof and should not be relied upon or used for any other
project without an independent check being carried out as to its suitability and prior written authority of Oxford Archaeology Ltd
being obtained. Oxford Archaeology Ltd accepts no responsibility or liability for the consequences of this document being used
for a purpose other than the purposes for which it was commissioned. Any person/party using or relying on the document for
such other purposes agrees, and will by such use or reliance be taken to confirm their agreement to indemnify Oxford
Archaeology Ltd for all loss or damage resulting therefrom. Oxford Archaeology accepts no responsibility or liability for this

Signed LS

© Oxford Archaeology Ltd (2014)
Janus House

Osney Mead

Oxford

OX2 0EA

t: (0044) 01865 263800

£: (0044) 01865 793496

document to any party other than the person/party by whom it was commissioned.




Salford Flood Improvements, Castle Irwell, Salfofdchaeological Watching Brief 1

CONTENTS
SUMMARY .ttt ettt e et e st e et e be e s aee e aeesae e e be e saeeene e s aeeeabe e eaeeebeeeneeebeesaneenneeenneeneas 2
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS. ..citteteeutesseesseeseesseesssassssseesseesssaseessesssesssssseessesssssseessessssssesssesseens 3
1. INTRODUGCTION ..ciiuiiiiteieteesteeeeeesueeeseesseeaseesseeaseesmseeseesanesseeasseaaseessseeasessnseessessnseans 4
1.1 Circumstances of the Project..........cooouuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 4
1.2 Location and TOPOGrapNy .........ciieieees s eeeeeeriaeeeeeeeatiineeessesssseeesasennees 4
1.3  Archaeological and Historical Background .............ccccoooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeee,
2. METHODOLOGY ..eeiuiiiiieeiteesteeaseesseeseeesseesseaasessaseaaseasseessessaseasseeanseessessnsesssessnsesssens 7
2.1 WaaLChiNG BrIET.ccoeiiiiiiieeeeeeee e 7
2.2 FINOS i ———— e e et e et e e e nee e e e e eeaaarrnaaaa 7
B T AN oX L 7
3 RESUL TS ittt ittt ettt ettt b e st e be e s et e ebe e s ae e e be e e neeebe e saneenneeenneeneas 8
G 200 R [ 11 0T [ Tox 1 o] o P PPUPPRRN 8
3.2 TS PItS i e 8
3.3 Boreholes and wWindOwW SAmMPIES ............cmmmerrreiiiiiiiiiieeee e 11
Bed RIS i ———— e e e e e e e e e e e eaaaeeeaeaaaraan 11
A, DISCUSSION ..ciueieieesueeeteeaeeeaseesteesseasseaaseeaaseasseaasseeaseesaseasseessseaasessaseeaseesnneesseesnseans 12
5. RECOMMENDATIONS ... .uttiittieiteeeateeesseeesseesssseesssseesssseesssseessssessasseessseesneessnseeesns 13
BIBLIOGRAPHY .ttt ettt sttt sttt e b e e e e sbe e sas e e be e s mseenseesaneenneeanneesneas 14
CartographiC SOUICES ......uuuiiiiiiiiiiii e eeeeeee ettt eeee e e e e e e 14
SECONUANY SOUICES ...uuuiieiiiiiii e e e et mmmmmmmr e e e e e et e e e e e et e e e e e ees e e eeeesnsnnns 14
[ LLUSTRATIONS ..ctiiittieeteee ettt e st e st e st s e st e e sab e e sas e e e saee e e seeesbs e e snneesneeesaneeennneeas 15
I3 0 o T £ ST UPPPPPP 15
S 0 ) F= 1 15

For the use of the Environmental Scientifics Group O® North: June 2014



Salford Flood Improvements, Castle Irwell, Salfofdchaeological Watching Brief 2

SUMMARY

In April 2014, Environmental Scientifics Group comnssioned Oxford Archaeology
North (OA North) to undertake an archaeologicalokatg brief during the course of
a geotechnical investigation. This investigatiooufeed on an area contained within a
meander of the River Irwell, adjacent to Castleeliwstudent Village, Cromwell
Road, Salford (centred on SD 8205 0116), and forped of a scheme of flood
defence improvement. The investigation entailed ekeavation of 17 test pits, ten
boreholes, and eight window samples.

Historically, this area is known to have containaed early nineteenth-century
mansion, named Castle Irwell, an early nineteeptittay golf course, and was also
the site of two racecourses; the first operatinghisn mid-nineteenth century and the
second dating to the early and mid-twentieth centuring the watching brief
several areas of nineteenth- and early twentietitacyg activity were identified. The
nineteenth-century remains that were revealed ledarchaeological significance
and comprise levelling layers, containing ninethesgntury artefacts, which were
present in four of the interventions (TP-105 andIlF; WS-102 and WS-107).
These layers were probably deposited during thabishment of the Castle Irwell
grounds, or during the establishment of the midtganth century racecourse, or
even the twentieth-century racecourse. It shoulddied, however, that the footprint
of the former Castle Irwell mansion was not invgsted directly, and whilst the
evidence obtained from the geophysical survey &edeixcavation of the adjacent
trial holes suggests that the site was subjectotopcehensive levelling during the
construction of the Manchester Racecourse, thenpatdor buried foundations of the
mansion house to survive-situ cannot be discounted entirely.

The early twentieth-century remains hold greatehaeological value and include
brick walls identified in two test pits (TP-116 afidP-117). These walls probably
formed elements of a stable block that was assatiavith the Manchester
Racecourse, which was in operation between 19021868. The spacing of the test
pits may indicate that fairly extensive below-grduremains associated with this
building are present within the north-eastern corok flood-defence area. Any
damage or disturbance of the buried remains ofstable complex during future
stages of the flood improvement scheme may reduirtkaeological mitigation, the
scope of which should be devised in consultatiothwhe Greater Manchester
Archaeological Advisory Service.

For the use of the Environmental Scientifics Group O® North: June 2014
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1. INTRODUCTION

11

111

1.2

1.2.1

1.2.2

1.3

1.3.1

1.3.2

CIRCUMSTANCESOF THE PROJECT

In April 2014, Environmental Scientifics Group (Ep@Gmmissioned Oxford
Archaeology North (OA North) to undertake an araiagical watching brief
during geotechnical investigations on behalf of Em¥ironment Agency (EA).
This formed a precursor to a programme of floocdeé improvement, across
an area contained within a meander of the Riveellpwhich can be accessed
from Castle Irwell Student Village, Cromwell Ro&slford (Fig 1).

LOCATION AND TOPOGRAPHY

The flood defence improvement area (centred on 3@b&116) is located
within the northern edge of the City of Salford eygiately 2.4km to the
north-west of the Manchester’s city centre. Theadres on the floodplain of
the River Irwell, and is bounded to the north byrd&k Dale, to the east by
Higher Broughton, to the south by Charlestown, &mdhe west by Lower
Kersal.

Topographically, the area is predominantly flatpgyat a height of 30m above
Ordnance Datum (aOD), albeit at its northern enkickv rises steeply from
the River Irwell to 50m aOD.

ARCHAEOLOGICAL AND HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Introduction: prior to the archaeological watching brief outtina this report,
the flood-defence area was subjected to a detaileldaeological desk-based
assessment, which considered the archaeologicatiatatical background of
the area in some detail, and also produced a gazett sites contained within
(Nash 2014). The following section, draws heavity this information, and
forms a summary designed to place the watchingf bine its local
archaeological and historical setting.

Prehistoric to Roman: although there is no direct evidence for prehistori
sites, or finds, directly within the flood-defenaeea, the surrounding area was
certainly utilised during this broad period. Fostemce, Neolithic activity is
known at Kersal Moor to the north and also to tlsteat Irwell House
(Arrowsmith 1993, 3; Nash 2014, 8). Evidence forolrze Age activity
includes the site of a possible barrow to the nartist at Broughton Old Hall,
whilst an Iron Age enclosed settlement might onesehbeen located on
Rainsough Hill ipid). Although this latter site was destroyed by quag in
the mid-nineteenth century, excavations within eelj gardens revealed a
possible stockade along with over 1000 sherds tef pehistoric/Romano-
British pottery, glass and other artefadéksd). Furthermore, this site may have
been comparable to another potential later pretgsichich lies to the west of
the flood-defence area, which is termed ‘Castlel’ Hih early Ordnance
Survey (OS) mappinghid).

For the use of the Environmental Scientifics Group O® North: June 2014
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1.3.3 Regarding Roman activity, a putative Roman campblee postulated at the
southern end of the flood-defence area, which otk as ‘Hylewood’ on
early OS mapping. However, there is no direct ewigefor the presence of
this camp and the only firm evidence for Romanvagticlose to the area
includes a silver denarius of Septimus Severusgchvivas recovered from
somewhere between the flood-defence area and CribBrage. In addition,
a Roman finger ring was discovered near St Johhig¢h, Higher Broughton
(Arrowsmith 1993, 4; Nash 2014, 9).

1.3.4 Medieval to early post-medieval period: during the medieval period the flood-
defence area lay within the township of Pendlet@hnich formed part of the
manor of Salford, and whose place-name is firstudwnted in the twelfth
century (Farrer and Brownbill, 1911, 392-396; N&f14, 9). In 1261 the
township was granted to the Priory of St ThomasMiaegtyr and remained so
until the Dissolution (Farrer and Brownbill 1911923396; Nash 2014, 9). In
1539 Pendleton was then granted to the Bishop difigld and subsequently
passed to his nephew, Bryan Fowler, after whiglkentained in possession of
the Fowler family until the beginning of the eigle¢h century, when it was
bequeathed to the Fitzgerald famiilgid). Within the flood-defence area there
is no direct evidence for either medieval or epdgt-medieval activity.

1.3.5 Eighteenth to twentieth century: by the mid-eighteenth century some small-
scale rural development may have occurred withenarea. For example, a
mid-eighteenth-century estate map names two fiattjacent to the northern
bank of the Irwell as ‘Damn Road’ and ‘Mill Ridingtentatively suggesting
the presence of a water mill (Arrowsmith, 1993, Nash 2014, 10). In
addition, Yates 1786 map depicts a square structrthe northern bank of
the River Irwell, adjacent to the north-easternrimary of the flood-defence
area, which may represent an early mill, perhaps khown as ‘Scar Mill
(ibid).

1.3.6 In the first decades of the nineteenth centuryleaiom the potential mill site
on the northern bank of the Irwelbéction 1.3.5 the cartographic evidence
indicates that the majority of the flood-defenceaaformed undeveloped land.
However, in 1826 a mansion named ‘Castle Irwell'swenstructed on the
knoll of Hylewood by John Purcell Fitzgerald, a Viley landowner from
Ireland (Nash 2014, 10). This mansion was a threeg, brick-built,
castellated structure, was accessed from Castetllirbvane, and was
surrounded by enclosed gardens, which containetlaagdouildings. It was
also associated with a subterraneous passagewagh wéin in a north-
east/south-west direction below the western hathefhouse through the knoll
(ibid). The building is depicted on the detailed OrdaBarvey map of 1852,
which was surveyed in 1848 (Plate 1).

1.3.7 Significantly, in 1847 John Purcell Fitzgerald ledgart of this land at Castle
Irwell to the Manchester Racecourse Committee. @lhisved for horse racing
on the flat area to the north of the house, withie River Irwell’'s meander.
This racecourse was closed in 1867, and racingtines transferred to New
Barns racecourse in Salford, which is now occupediedia City ¢p cit, 18;
Gregory 2006).

For the use of the Environmental Scientifics Group O® North: June 2014
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Plate 1: Extract from the Ordnance Survey map &218howing Castle Irwell

1.3.8 Within the area of the flood-defence scheme thatsathe northern bank of
the Irwell a golf course was also established 14818y William Mitchell,
which is depicted on late nineteenth-century OS pirgp (Nash 2014, 10).
This holds some significance as it represents dmtysecond golf course to
have been established in Englaridd).

1.3.9 Further development of the area then occurred @ lditer half of the
nineteenth century. This included the constructiba footbridge crossing the
River Irwell named ‘Waterford Bridge’ which alloweadlccess from Castle
Irwell Road to Lower Kersalop cit 11). Furthermore, the cartographic
evidence indicates that Castle Irwell underwent esanodifications. These
included extending the mansion, demolishing oné, establishing six new,
ancillary buildings, as well as glasshousbglj.

1.3.10In 1898 Castle Irwell was then purchased by the dflaster Racecourse
Committee in order to re-establish a racecourséhiat site following the
compulsory purchase, in 1899, of the racecourséNew Barns by the
Manchester Ship Canal Co (Gregory 2006). The MasteheRacecourse
Committee therefore demolished Castle Irwellcii900, and subsequently
opened a racecourse in 1902 (Nash 2014, 10). Badntieth-century OS
mapping indicates that this racecourse lay withearneander of the Irwell and
included a sizeable stable block, lying within tileod-defence area,
positioned at the north-eastern corner of the @mose (bid).

1.3.11 The racecourse was in closed in 1963, and the auifse to the north was
also closed at a similar time. Therefore, acrossmid-twentieth century only
minor development occurred within the boundarieshef flood-defence area.
This merely included the establishment of allotrserext to the northern bank
of the Irwell, within the north-eastern corner bétflood-defence area. In the
late twentieth century most of the flood-defenamaaras used as sports fields.

For the use of the Environmental Scientifics Group O® North: June 2014
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2. METHODOLOGY

21

211

2.1.2

22

221

2.3
231

WATCHING BRIEF

The geotechnical investigation included the exdawmatof 17 test pits,
excavated to a maximum depth of 3m. Generally,eth@ts measured 0.6m-
wide by 2.6m-long and they were excavated usingeahanical excavator
fitted with a toothless bucket. In addition to ttest pits, the geotechnical
investigation included the drilling of 10 borehokesd eight window samples.
Initially these interventions were hand dug to ptbeof 1.2m prior to drilling.

The archaeological watching brief recorded thetiooa extent, and character
of all surviving features and deposits of archagchlal interest contained
within the test pits, boreholes, and window sampléss was in accordance
with the Project Brief Appendix ] and also the IfA Standards and Guidance
for archaeological excavations (IfA 2008a).

FINDS

The recovery of finds and sampling programmes weaeried out in
accordance with best practice, following curred®t fuidelines (IfA 2008a),
and subject to expert advice, in order to miningsterioration.

ARCHIVE

A full professional archive has been compile@dccordance with the current
IfA (IfA 2008b) and English Heritage guidelines @ish Heritage 1991). The
project archive represents the collation and inuigxof all the data and
material gathered during the course of the progaopy of this report will be
forwarded to the Greater Manchester Historic Envinent Record (HER).

For the use of the Environmental Scientifics Group O® North: June 2014
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3. RESULTS

31

3.1.1

3.1.2

3.2

3.2.1

3.2.2

3.2.3

3.24

3.2.5

3.2.6

3.2.7

INTRODUCTION

The geotechnical investigation consisted of 17 e, ten boreholes, and
eight window samples. This section details the Itesaf the archaeological
monitoring conducted during the excavation of thesterventions. The
locations of the interventions are plotted on Fegr

In all of the test pits the uppermost turf and twbwas up to 0.3m thick and
the majority exposed natural fluvial deposits afd¥ailt/gravel, and at times
the sandstone bedrock. Four of the test pits (Th-IB-114, TP-116, and TP-
117) and two of the window samples (WS-102 and W%)Hdid, however,

contain nineteenth-/early twentieth-century archagioal remains in the form
of levelling layers, artefacts, and brick walls.

TEST PITS

TP-101: this test pit contained a silty sand layer, 1.3@@ which was sealed
by turf and topsoil. Sandstone bedrock was encoeditat a depth of 1.8m
below the modern ground surface. No archaeologarahins were present.

TP-102: beneath the turf and topsoil, this pit containatural sand, with the
sandstone bedrock being encountered at a 0.9m .dBjotharchaeological
remains were present.

TP-103: this pit contained natural sandy silt and this Eiyectly above
sandstone bedrock, which was encountered at a depth3m. No
archaeological remains were present.

TP-104: in this test pit, beneath the turf and topsoilgusmntial layers of
natural sand and silt were present, containing sorganic inclusions. These
continued down to the base of the test pit, whaghdt a depth of 1.2m. No
archaeological remains were present.

TP-105: this test pit measured 3.8m long, 0.6m wide, ara$ \Bm deep.
Beneath the turf and topsoil, lay a 0.4m-thick gasitt deposit. This probably
formed a levelling layer as it contained nineteerghtury pottery $ection
3.4). This deposit lay above natural silty sand, whestended to the base of
the test pit.

TP-106: this test pit contained a natural sandy silt layerl depth of 3m, and
no archaeological remains were present.

TP-107: this test pit was 3m deep and beneath the turf tapdoil, two
sequential deposits of natural sandy silt and drawere encountered. No
archaeological remains were present.

For the use of the Environmental Scientifics Group O® North: June 2014
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3.2.8 TP-108-110: all of these three test pits contained identicgakits. Beneath
the turf and topsoil this included a layer of natwilty sand, which lay above
natural sand. No archaeological remains were pt@samy of the test pits.

3.2.9 TP-111: within this test pit, beneath the turf and topswés a natural sandy
silt layer. No archaeological remains were present.

3.2.10 TP-112 and TP-113: both test pits contained identical deposits. Béndae
turf and topsoil these included a 1.5m thick ndtlager of silty sand, which
sealed a deposit of natural sandy gravel. No aotbgeal remains were
present in either of the pits.

3.2.11 TP-114: beneath the turf and topsoil a possible levelligposit was
encountered. This had a 0.5m depth, was composattyofand and contained
nineteenth-century artefactSegction 3.4 This deposit was also partially
truncated by a field drain. This levelling layeakssl, in turn, an organic sandy
silt layer, which probably represents a naturalodép

3.2.12 TP-115: within this pit natural sand was present, bend#aghturf and topsoil.
Sandstone bedrock was encountered at a depth ®Mm2.Mlo archaeological
remains were present.

3.2.13 TP-116: this pit contained a demolition layer, which layedtly beneath the
turf and topsoil. This layer was composed of a mixsand, clinker, and
crushed ceramic building material, ranged betwe&m@nd 0.8m thick, and
generally lay above natural sandy silt. Howevendagh the demolition layer,
in one part of the test pit, a brick wall was enteved, at a depth of 0.4m
below present ground level. This wall was alignedtimwest/south-east and
was constructed from wire-cut bricks, four-courskp, and four-courses
wide. The bricks had dimensions of 0.23 x 0.110«6 (9" x 4" x 3") and
were bonded with a black-bitumen mortar (PlateTAe wall was laid upon a
light-grey sandy bedding deposit, which had beexethwith lime mortar.

3.2.14 TP-117: in a similar manner to TP-11&éction 3.2.13 a near-identical brick
wall was present in this test pit, which lay atimikr depth. This wall was
aligned north-east/south-west, was four-course®wathd two-courses deep,
and it was constructed from wire-cut bricks, meggu0.23 x 0.11 x 0.07m
(9" x £%" x 3"), that were bonded with black-bitumen raoi{Plate 3). It was
also laid upon a light-grey sand and mortar beddegpsit.

For the use of the Environmental Scientifics Group O® North: June 2014
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Plate 2: The brick wall in TP-116

For the use of the Environmental Scientifics Group O® North: June 2014



Salford Flood Improvements, Castle Irwell, Salfofdchaeological Watching Brief 11

3.3 BOREHOLESAND WINDOW SAMPLES

3.3.1 The majority of the boreholes and window sa®péncountered natural
deposits. However, nineteenth-century artefactseveatlected from WS102
and WS107 $ection 3.% and these were probably associated with levelling
layers.

34 FINDS

3.4.1 In total, 14 fragments of artefacts were recovdreth essentially unstratifed
deposits across the site. The entire finds assgmldamprised fragments of
pottery, which possibly derived from a single véssehis formed an
underglaze transfer-printed tableware vessel ofate Inineteenth-/early
twentieth-century date. This is a very common \esype of little
archaeological interest, which does not contritata wider understanding of
the development of the site.

For the use of the Environmental Scientifics Group O® North: June 2014
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4. DISCUSSION

4.1

4.2

4.3

During the course of the watching brief severabareontaining nineteenth-
century remains were identified (Fig 2). HoweverTP-105 and TP-114, and
WS-102 and WS-107, these remains hold minimal @alogical value in that
they merely constitute levelling layers. These tayeontained nineteenth-
century artefacts and were perhaps laid down duhegestablishment of the
Castle Irwell grounds, or during the establishnarihe 1847-67 Manchester
racecourse, or even the later racecourse, whicmeapan 1902. The
geophysical survey of the site carried out at arlyestage in the project
concluded that structural remains of the Castlellrmansion house are likely
to have been entirely destroyed (GSB Prospection20t14), and the results
obtained from the archaeological watching brief lynihat the site had been
subject to comprehensive levelling during the casion of the Manchester
Racecourse. However, none of the trial pits weaegud within the footprint of
the mansion house, and the possibility that busiedctural remains survive
in-situ cannot be discounted entirely.

In addition to the levelling layers, the watchingeb also recorded structural
remains in the form of two lengths oi-situ brick wall present in TP-116 and
TP-117, which hold greater archaeological valug @)i. Both test pits lay in
the same north-eastern part of the flood-defenea and this location suggests
that they form elements of the stables associatétl e Manchester
Racecourse, which was in operation between 19021&63 (Fig 3). This
stable block formed a square enclosure, containi®§0 individual stables set
within 13 stable blocks (ten double pile and thsaggle pile), and probably
had tack rooms on its south-western side (Nash ,208% Significantly, the
presence of brick walls in two separate test [@&t, some 60m apart, may
suggest that below-ground remains associated Wwébet stables exist over a
fairly extensive area.

No evidence for any earlier activity on the siteswencountered during the
watching brief.

For the use of the Environmental Scientifics Group O® North: June 2014
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5. RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1  The results obtained from the watching brief hasctaled that there is little
or no archaeological interest across most of thdysarea. However, buried
remains of the former stable blocks associated wieh former Manchester
Racecourse evidently survive in the north-eastemmer of the study area.
Any damage or disturbance of these buried remainsgl future stages of the
flood improvement scheme may require archaeologiuibation, the scope
of which should be devised in consultation with tGeeater Manchester
Archaeological Advisory Service in their capacisyachaeological advisor to
Salford City Council.

5.2  Whilst no firm evidence for the Castle Irwell mamsihouse was obtained
from either the geophysical survey (GSB Prospectioth 2014) or the
watching brief, the possibility for buried remaitsssurvivein-situ cannot be
discounted entirely. The merits of any further ambiogical investigation of
this part of the study area should be discusseld thg Greater Manchester
Archaeological Advisory Service.

For the use of the Environmental Scientifics Group O® North: June 2014
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Figure 1: Site location
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Figure 2: Location of the ground investigation sites
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Figure 3: Ground investigation sites superimposed on the Ordnance Survey 25":1 mile map of 1908
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Figure 4: Location of areas of potential archaeological interest
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